### No. 70810-4-I

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS PCS LLC, Plaintiff-Petitioner,

VS.

THE CITY OF BOTHELL, WASHINGTON,
Defendant-Respondent,
CITIES 1 through 100+,
Defendants.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

HILLIS CLARK MARTIN & PETERSON P.S. Michael R. Scott, WSBA #12822 Holly D. Golden, WSBA #44404 Andrew G. Murphy, WSBA # 46664 1221 Second Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle WA 98101-2925

Telephone: (206) 623-1745

BARTIMUS, FRICKLETON, ROBERTSON & GORNY, P.C.

(ADMITTED PRO HAC VICE)

Edward D. Robertson, Jr. Mary D. Winter 715 Swifts Highway

Jefferson City, MO 65109

Telephone: (573) 659-4454

James P. Frickleton

IV.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW				
V.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
	A.	New Cingular collected Bothell's utility tax from its customers and remitted the tax to Bothell3			
	В.	AT&T Mobility discovered that it had collected taxes on Internet access after its customers filed class action lawsuits across the country			
	C.	New Cingular submitted detailed refund requests in accordance with the class action settlement and monitored those claims			
	D.	In a joint letter, Bothell and eleven other cities summarily denied the refund claim			
	E.	New Cingular filed suit in Superior Court8			
	F.	New Cingular filed other actions across the state9			
	G.	New Cingular prevailed on Bothell's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Bothell appealed, and most of the other cases were stayed pending resolution of this appeal			
	Н.	The Supreme Court eliminated the concurrent original jurisdiction rule that allowed plaintiffs to file tax refund claims in Superior Court without exhausting administrative remedies			

	1.		Court of Appeals reversed the trial court out addressing New Cingular's arguments	12	
VI.	ARGUMENT			13	
	<b>A.</b>		Supreme Court should accept review to rmine whether the pursuit of an		
		administrative remedy before filing suit can equitably toll the statute of limitations		13	
		1.	Courts across the country recognize pursuing administrative remedies should equitably toll the statute of limitations	14	
		2.	CMS does not address or control the equitable tolling issue in New Cingular's cases	15	
	В.	B. The Supreme Court should accept review to determine whether court-caused confusion can equitably toll the statute of limitations			
VII.	CON	ICLUS	ION	20	

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
CASES
Am. Marine Corp. v. Sholin, 295 P.3d 924 (Alaska 2013)
Capital Tracing, Inc. v. United States, 63 F.3d 859 (9th Cir.         1995)
Chaney v. Fetterly, 100 Wn. App. 140, 995 P.2d 1284 (2000) 9, 19
Cost Mgmt. Servs., Inc. v. City of Lakewood, 178 Wn.2d 635, 310 P.3d 804 (2013)
Enron Oil & Gas Co. v. Freudenthal, 861 P.2d 1090 (Wyo. 1993)
Holland v. Florida, 130 S. Ct. 2549, 177 L. Ed. 2d 130 (2010)
In re AT & T Mobility Wireless Data Servs. Sales Tax Litig., 789 F. Supp. 2d 935 (N.D. Ill. 2011)
Ladzinski v. MEBA Pension Trust, 951 F. Supp. 570 (D.Md.), aff'd, No. 97-1237, 1997 WL 452237 (4th Cir. Aug. 11, 1997) (unpublished)
McDonald v. Antelope Valley Cmty. Coll. Dist., 45 Cal. 4th 88         (2008)
Millay v. Cam, 135 Wn.2d 193, 955 P.2d 791 (1998)
Qwest Corp. v. City of Bellevue, 161 Wn.2d 353, 166 P.3d 667 (2007)
Weidow v. Uninsured Emp'rs Fund, 359 Mont. 77, 246 P.3d 704 (2010)

# STATUTES 47 U.S.C. § 151 (1998) 4 RCW 2.08.010 8 RCW 35.21.717 4 RCW 82.32A.005 18 OTHER AUTHORITIES Bothell Municipal Code 5.08.210 6 RULES RAP 13.4(b)(4) 1 REGULATIONS WAC 458-20-229 5 CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS Const. art. IV, § 6 8

### I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner New Cingular Wireless has cases pending against 36 Washington cities, and each case has the same complicated statute of limitations issues presented here. In these cases, New Cingular seeks tax refunds for the direct benefit of its customers, pursuant to a class action settlement approved by a federal court in a nationwide multidistrict litigation proceeding.

New Cingular's cases against 19 cities are pending in 11 Superior Courts, which are within the jurisdiction of each Court of Appeals division, and in addition, there is a federal multi-district litigation action in the Western District of Washington involving claims against 17 cities. Nearly all of those cases are stayed pending ultimate resolution of the statute of limitations issues raised in this appeal, which are also raised in all the other cases. The Court of Appeals decision lacks precedential value as an unpublished case, and more importantly, it does not address the issues of first impression raised by New Cingular. Accepting this petition is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4), because New Cingular's petition raises issues of substantial public interest that the Supreme Court should resolve.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> These cases were filed by New Cingular in Superior Courts, and the cities removed the cases to federal courts in the Eastern and Western Districts of Washington.

### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, New Cingular Wireless PCS LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, asks the Supreme Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part III of this petition.

### III. DECISION BELOW

New Cingular seeks review of the Court of Appeals' opinion filed on August 25, 2014, which reversed a summary judgment order in New Cingular's favor and held the statute of limitations was not equitably tolled upon submitting a tax refund claim to the City. Appendix ("App.") A.

### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- (1) Application of the doctrine of equitable tolling in a tax refund case remains an issue of first impression in Washington. New Cingular argues that filing its tax refund claim with the City of Bothell equitably tolled the statute of limitations in November 2010, because the filing satisfied the predicates of the statute of limitations, equitable tolling would eliminate any incentive on the part of the City to stonewall, and equitable tolling would constitute prudent public policy. Is an issue of substantial public interest presented where the same issue exists in cases pending against 36 Washington cities?
- (2) Whether court-caused confusion should equitably toll a statute of limitations is another issue of first impression in Washington. After

Bothell waited 17 months to summarily deny New Cingular's claim, New Cingular filed suit directly in court as then permitted under the concurrent original jurisdiction doctrine. More than one year after New Cingular filed suit, and nearly three years after New Cingular filed its refund claims, the Washington Supreme Court clarified the doctrine to generally require exhaustion of administrative remedies. Is an issue of substantial public interest presented where the Court has not resolved whether court-caused confusion should equitably toll the statute of limitations?

### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. New Cingular collected Bothell's utility tax from its customers and remitted the tax to Bothell.

The City of Bothell, like many taxing jurisdictions, imposes a utility tax on New Cingular as a telephone business. CP 41.<sup>2</sup> As permitted by law, New Cingular passes the taxes through to its customers by collecting a monthly utility fee and remitting it to the appropriate taxing jurisdiction. CP 247. During the period at issue, New Cingular inadvertently collected and remitted a tax not only on telephone services, but also on Internet access. CP 273–74. Because State and federal laws prohibit taxation of Internet access, this inadvertent error resulted in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Cited excerpts of the Clerk's Papers are included in App. B.

overpayment of utility taxes to the taxing jurisdictions. *See* 47 U.S.C. § 151 (1998), as amended; RCW 35.21.717.

B. AT&T Mobility discovered that it had collected taxes on Internet access after its customers filed class action lawsuits across the country.

In February 2010, customers in Washington and around the country sued AT&T Mobility and its affiliates, including New Cingular as its Washington affiliate (collectively, "ATTM"), to recover taxes on Internet access. *In re AT & T Mobility Wireless Data Servs. Sales Tax Litig.*, 789 F. Supp. 2d 935 (N.D. Ill. 2011). The cases were consolidated, and the parties reached a settlement that was reviewed and approved by the court. *Id.* at 939. As part of the settlement, ATTM agreed to seek refunds from jurisdictions that received the taxes on Internet access, including Bothell, and return the refunded taxes to the Settlement Class. *Id.* at 940–41.

In response to the class action proceedings, ATTM conducted lengthy and thorough evaluations of its coding for Internet access services in early 2010. CP 243. ATTM sells Internet access services under different names and numerous formats that vary depending on the volume the customer desires and the type(s) of device(s) the customer will use. CP 242. ATTM hired an auditor to review and test the data analysis. CP 243. Through the lengthy internal evaluation and the following audit,

ATTM determined that, as new services had evolved to meet the needs of iPhone and other smart-phone customers, taxes on unbundled Internet access services had been inadvertently charged to and collected from ATTM's customers and remitted to taxing jurisdictions. CP 273-74.

ATTM reprogrammed its systems in August 2010 so that taxes are not billed for unbundled Internet access services. *Id.* 

# C. New Cingular submitted detailed refund requests in accordance with the class action settlement and monitored those claims.

Having evaluated its coding and reprogrammed its systems, ATTM set to work filing refund claims with taxing jurisdictions pursuant to the class action settlement. CP 244. On about November 1, 2010, New Cingular filed its refund requests with Bothell and other Washington taxing jurisdictions on behalf of itself and the Washington-based members of the Settlement Class. CP 243-44, 247-64. Bothell's municipal code does not specify a particular form for tax refunds, so New Cingular provided the information the State requests for tax refund claims. See WAC 458-20-229. The refund claim also included detailed spreadsheets that showed the exact amount of the overpayments in two ways: individual customer-level information, and monthly totals of overpaid taxes remitted to Bothell. CP 244. Finally, the refund claim included a statement that summarized the legal and factual bases for the refund request. CP 249-56.

The refund claim was subsequently supplemented and reduced by letter dated June 15, 2012. CP 269-70. New Cingular adjusted the refund amount to account for "bad debts" that were billed to but not collected from customers, and to eliminate charges that ATTM's continued review of its billing codes revealed should have been excluded from the refund claim. CP 269–70. The supplement reduced the total refund claim by less than three percent. ATTM sent similar letters to other taxing jurisdictions across the country. CP 245.

In January of 2012, New Cingular sent a follow-up letter to Bothell, requesting an update regarding the City's progress with the refund claim. CP 290-91. As identified in the letter, New Cingular understood that processing the refund claim could take time and effort. *Id.* In fact, New Cingular had assisted other Washington cities in processing refund claims and had staff dedicated to provide assistance upon request. CP 244. But, even though Bothell had a self-imposed municipal code obligation to "promptly" refund overpaid taxes upon request, New Cingular did not receive any kind of response from Bothell until 17 months after submitting the refund claim. Bothell Municipal Code 5.08.210; CP 276.

# D. In a joint letter, Bothell and eleven other cities summarily denied the refund claim.

Bothell's first response to New Cingular was a generic, summary denial of the refund claim. An attorney denied the claim by sending a letter dated April 16, 2012 (the "Denial Letter") to New Cingular on behalf of Bothell and 11 other cities, identified collectively in the letter as the "Consortium Cities." CP 266. The Denial Letter denied the refund claim on behalf of each of the 12 Consortium Cities in a mere one-and-one-half pages. CP 266-67. The Denial Letter did not identify any Bothell-specific, nor any Consortium City-specific, reason for denial. The Denial Letter did, however, assert that submitting the refund claims "did not toll the statute of limitations." CP 266.

One of the stated generic reasons for denial was insufficient information. *Id.* It is undisputed that Bothell received the detailed data that verified the refund claim, and no Bothell representative ever requested additional information, identified insufficiencies in the Refund Claim, or otherwise contacted New Cingular until the Denial Letter was sent. CP 276.

The Denial Letter did not outline the procedures for, much less identify the opportunity to, appeal any of the 12 denials. Of course, given the summary nature of the Denial Letter, there was nothing of substance to appeal.

### E. New Cingular filed suit in Superior Court.

On April 25, 2012, less than 10 days after receipt of the Denial Letter, New Cingular filed its complaint seeking, among other things, a declaration of its rights to a refund and restitution of the unjustly retained taxes. CP 106-24. In addition to Bothell, New Cingular named as defendants other Washington cities that had not issued a refund. New Cingular brought the lawsuit as a single action in King County Superior Court because the cities asserted the same defenses (or had not even responded to the refund claim), the cases all involved the same underlying law and facts, and many of the cities were working together. CP 41-48.

At the time of filing, Washington law did not require New Cingular to exhaust administrative remedies before filing suit in Superior Court because of the concurrent original jurisdiction doctrine. The doctrine recognized that superior courts have original jurisdiction in cases involving the "legality of any tax, impost, assessment, toll or municipal fine." Const. art. IV, § 6; RCW 2.08.010. Because the trial court shared original jurisdiction with Bothell over the tax refund claim, the trial court did not operate in an appellate capacity, and administrative exhaustion requirements did not apply. *Qwest Corp. v. City of Bellevue*, 161 Wn.2d 353, 371, 166 P.3d 667 (2007), *overruled in part by Cost Mgmt. Servs.*, *Inc. v. City of Lakewood*, 178 Wn.2d 635, 310 P.3d 804 (2013)

(hereinafter "*CMS*"); <sup>3</sup> *Chaney v. Fetterly*, 100 Wn. App. 140, 145, 995 P.2d 1284 (2000), *overruled in part by CMS*, 178 Wn.2d 635. Both parties and the trial court acknowledged the law allowed New Cingular to bypass the City's administrative process and file suit directly in court. RP 10, 12, 17-18, 22, 37; CP 65, 234, 297.<sup>4</sup>

### F. New Cingular filed other actions across the state.

On or about February 26, 2013, approximately 21 defendant-cities in the original action filed a Motion to Drop the Moving Misjoined Parties (the "Misjoinder Motion"), which New Cingular opposed. The court granted the Misjoinder Motion on March 14, 2013. App. D. The court also denied New Cingular's subsequent Motion for Reconsideration, which argued that the parties should have been severed, not dismissed. App. E. In the interest of efficiency, New Cingular and nearly all defendant-cities signed a stipulation and order that preserved New Cingular's appeal rights and allowed all defendant-cities to be treated as though they had joined in the Misjoinder Motion. *See, e.g.*, App. F. Most cities were dismissed under this stipulation. Bothell was not dismissed, however, because it was the first-named city located in King County.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The only portion of *Qwest* that *CMS* overturned was the portion that indicated the exhaustion requirement did not apply in cases where the Superior Court had original jurisdiction. The other portions of *Qwest* remain good law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Cited excerpts of the Verbatim Report of Proceedings are included as App. C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The order granting the Misjoinder Motion will not be ripe for appeal until final resolution of this case.

To protect its interests in the tax refund claims, New Cingular refiled individual lawsuits against many of the cities that had been dismissed. App. G. Seventeen cities removed their cases to federal court, which were then consolidated into one multidistrict litigation action before Judge John C. Coughenour in the Western District of Washington. App. H. All 36 Washington cities New Cingular is currently litigating against have raised a statute of limitations defense. App. I.

G. New Cingular prevailed on Bothell's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Bothell appealed, and most of the other cases were stayed pending resolution of this appeal.

On July 5, 2013, Bothell brought a motion for partial summary judgment regarding the statute of limitations. CP 46-67. New Cingular argued the statute of limitations should be equitably tolled from the date it filed its tax refund claim with Bothell. *See* CP 211-240. Judge Ramsdell agreed that the circumstances of this case justify invocation of the doctrine of equitable tolling, and ruled in New Cingular's favor. CP 326-27. Bothell filed a motion for discretionary review, and New Cingular agreed that interlocutory appeal of the equitable tolling issue should be allowed.

After the Court of Appeals granted discretionary review, most of the remaining cases were stayed pending ultimate resolution of this appeal.

App. I. Except for four cities, each defendant-city entered into a stipulation

with New Cingular to stay their cases in recognition that it would conserve party and court resources for an appellate court to provide guidance on the same statute of limitations issues in each case. *See, e.g.*, App. J. Lakewood was one of the four cities that did not agree to a stay. <sup>6</sup> It moved for partial summary judgment regarding the same statute of limitations defense raised by Bothell, and New Cingular responded with the same arguments offered here. <sup>7</sup> App. K. The trial judge granted Lakewood's motion, but she recognized the equitable tolling issues were so vexing that she offered to certify her order for discretionary review. *See* App. L. That case is currently pending in Division II of the Court of Appeals. *New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC v. City of Lakewood*, No. 46503-5-II.

H. The Supreme Court eliminated the concurrent original jurisdiction rule that allowed plaintiffs to file tax refund claims in Superior Court without exhausting administrative remedies.

While the parties prepared for appeal, the Washington Supreme Court decided *CMS*, 178 Wn.2d 635. In holding that the taxpayer in that case was not obligated to exhaust administrative remedies because the city never directly responded to the refund claim, the Court distinguished the procedural nature of exhaustion from jurisdictional requirements:

11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The four cities that have not agreed to a stay are Lakewood, Lacey, Bellingham, and Yakima. A stay was entered over Lacey's objection, and stays are currently being discussed with Bellingham and Yakima.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Lakewood also moved to dismiss New Cingular's case based on an alleged failure to exhaust available administrative remedies. The trial court denied that motion.

The exhaustion doctrine has no bearing on the jurisdiction of the court in terms of the constitutional power of the court to hear a case.... A superior court's original jurisdiction over a claim does not relieve it of its responsibility to consider whether exhaustion should apply to the particular claim before the court.

*Id.* at 648. The Court acknowledged that its previous unanimous *Qwest* opinion suggested exhaustion was not required if a superior court had original jurisdiction, and interpreting that opinion was "potentially confusing." *Id.* at 645. *CMS* did not address equitable tolling.

# I. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court without addressing New Cingular's arguments.

The Court of Appeals reversed the *Bothell* trial court's equitable tolling decision in an unpublished opinion. *New Cingular Wireless v. City of Bothell*, No. 70810-4-I (Aug. 25, 2014). The Court of Appeals held that *Qwest* did not excuse New Cingular's failure to exhaust administrative remedies, because the *Qwest* holding only applied to issues of statutory interpretation. Slip op. at 8–9. The Court of Appeals also found justice did not require equitably tolling the statute of limitations because New Cingular could have obtained a trial de novo had it exhausted Bothell's administrative process. *Id.* at 12. The opinion did not address the strong public policy reasons for applying equitable tolling in the circumstances present in this case and the related cases. Nor did the opinion consider New Cingular's arguments for why exhaustion of Bothell's administrative

remedies was not required, which were that the Bothell City Council lacked jurisdiction; the City had not issued a final, appealable order; and fairness and practicality outweighed any requirement for exhaustion.

### VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Supreme Court should accept review to determine whether the pursuit of an administrative remedy before filing suit can equitably toll the statute of limitations.

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