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

C. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

The only ground for review asserted by New Cingular is its 

contention that this case "involves an issue of substantial public interest 

that should be determined" by this Court, under RAP 13.4(b)(4). New 

Cingular makes scant reference to this standard, instead skipping to the 

4 The Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion is attached to the Petition as Appendix A. 
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merits and essentially arguing that the Court should accept review because 

New Cingular disagrees with the Court of Appeals. In its introduction, 

however, New Cingular suggests that review should be accepted because 

New Cingular has similar litigation pending against 35 other cities, and: 

(1) the Court of Appeals' decision in this case was unpublished and 

therefore of no precedential value in the other cases; and (2) the Court of 

Appeals did not address certain arguments that New Cingular denominates 

"issues of first irnpression."5 These contentions are disingenuous, at best, 

given New Cingular's failure to move for publication and its failure to 

even acknowledge this Court's longstanding precedent on equitable 

tolling, which squarely controls New Cingular's claims. 

1. Washington's equitable tolling doctrine is complete and 
controlling, and New Cingular's desire to change it is not a 
matter of substantial public interest. 

New Cingular argues that this Court should review New Cingular's 

proposed "issues of first impression," but fails to mention that this Court 

already has a well-established equitable tolling doctrine. New Cingular is 

not being candid when it asks the Court to adopt doctrines from other 

states, while ignoring that those doctrines conflict with this Court's 

precedent. New Cingular does not even attempt to argue that it can meet 

5 Petition at 1. 
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this Court's strict requirements for equitable tolling. Instead, it pretends 

those standards do not exist. 

This Court long ago established a framework that governs when 

equitable tolling can apply to a judicial action. See In re Bonds, 165 

Wn.2d 135, 141, 196 PJd 672 (2008). Under this well-settled doctrine, 

the plaintiff must first show two predicates: (1) "bad faith, deception, or 

false assurances by the defendant"; and (2) "the exercise of diligence by 

the plaintiff." Millay v. Cam, 135 Wn.2d 193, 206, 955 P.2d 791 (1998) 

(citing Finkelstein v. Security Properties, Inc., 76 Wn. App. 733, 739-40, 

888 P.2d 161 (1995)). Once these predicates are shown, the plaintiff must 

then show that justice requires equitable tolling. Bonds, 165 Wn.2d at 141 

(holding that equitable tolling is permitted only "when justice requires and 

when the predicates for equitable tolling are met"). 

This doctrine "should be used sparingly and does not extend 

broadly to allow claims to be raised except under narrow circumstances." 

Bonds, 165 Wn.2d at 141 (emphasis added). The rule is strict because the 

"statute of limitations is 'a legislative declaration of public policy which 

the courts can do no less than respect."' Cost Management Services, Inc. 

v. City of Lakewood, 178 Wn.2d 635, 651, 310 P.3d 804 (2013) (quoting 

JM Arthur & Co. v. Burke, 83 Wash. 690, 693, 145 P. 974 (1915)). A 
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rule allowing greater discretion "would be a dangerous path to follow," 

"could only be in disregard of the universal maxim that ignorance of the 

law excuses no one," and "would substitute for a positive rule established 

by the legislature a variable rule of decision based upon individual ideas of 

justice conceived ... by the courts." Leschner v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 

27 Wn.2d 911, 926, 185 P.2d 113 (1947). 

New Cingular has not even attempted to argue in its Petition that 

the necessary predicates can be shown here. 6 Indeed, New Cingular has 

inexcusably failed to even mention the predicates anywhere in its Petition. 

Again, these predicates are mandatory. Douchette v. Bethel School Dist. 

No. 403, 117 Wn.2d 805, 810-11, 818 P.2d 1362 (1991) ("In the absence 

of bad faith on the part of the defendant and reasonable diligence on the 

part of the plaintiff, equity cannot be invoked."). 

This Court has thus squarely addressed the question of whether a 

plaintiff can invoke equitable tolling without the predicate showing. The 

answer, plainly and unequivocally for decades, is that it cannot. New 

Cingular's proposed doctrines are not "issues of first impression" in this 

state, as New Cingular claims. 

6 As explained in the briefing below, New Cingular cannot satisfy this Court's predicates 
because the City's conduct was entirely appropriate and certainly did not amount to 
deception, bad faith, or false assurances. 
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Nor are they compatible with Washington law. For its first 

proposed extension, New Cingular relies on a California case/ McDonald 

v. Antelope Valley Community College District, 45 Cal.4th 88, 100, 84 

Cal.Rptr.3d 734, 194 P.3d 1026 (2008). McDonald held that an 

employee's filing of a voluntary action with the California Department of 

Fair Employment and Housing could toll the statute of limitations for a 

lawsuit under the California Fair Employment and Housing Act. New 

Cingular asks the Court to adopt this rule as good policy. 

McDonald is inapposite because California does not require 

deception, bad faith, or false assurances as a predicate to equitable tolling. 

See Structural Steel Fabricators, Inc. v. City of Orange, 40 Cal.App.4th 

459, 464-65, 46 Cal.Rptr.2d 867 (1995) ("Equitable tolling has three 

elements: 'timely notice, and lack of prejudice, to the defendant, and 

reasonable and good faith conduct on the part of the plaintiff."') (quoting 

Addison v. State ofCalifornia, 21 Cal.3d 313, 319, 146 Cal.Rptr. 224, 578 

P.2d 941 (1978)). Such a rule would also contravene this Court's recent 

pronouncement that a taxpayer "cannot choose first to pursue recovery 

7 Petition at 14. Notwithstanding New Cingular's claim that courts "around the country" 
recognize its proposed rule, New Cingular cites only to cases from California, Alaska, 
Montana, and Wyoming. (Petition at 14). Only the California case actually applied the 
rule. The other three made vague references to it, but did not apply it. See American 
Marine Corp. v. Sholin, 295 P.3d 924 (Alaska 2013); Weidow v. Uninsured Employers' 
Fund, 259 Mont. 77, 246 P.3d 704 (2010); Enron Oil & Gas Co. v. Freudenthal, 861 
P.2d 1090 (Wyo. 1993). 
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through the courts, and then attempt to bypass the statute of limitations 

that necessarily applies as a result of that choice by seeking relief through 

the administrative process." Cost Management, 310 P.3d at 813. 

New Cingular's second argument relies on a Ninth Circuit case, 

which allowed equitable tolling based on court-created confusion. See 

Capital Tracing v. United States, 63 F.3d 859 (9th Cir. 1995). As with 

California, the federal courts do not require deception, bad faith, or false 

assurances as a predicate to equitable tolling. See Holland v. Florida, 560 

U.S. 631, 130 S. Ct. 2549, 2562, 177 L.Ed.2d 130 (2010) (to invoke 

equitable tolling, the petitioner must prove '"(1) that he has been pursuing 

his rights diligently, and (2) that some extraordinary circumstance stood in 

his way' and prevented timely filing") (quoting Pace v. DiGuglielmo, 544 

U.S. 408,418, 125 S.Ct. 1807, 161 L.Ed.2d 669 (2005)). 

Under this Court's longstanding jurisprudence, in Washington

unlike in California and federal law-deception, bad faith, or false 

assurances by the defendant is a required predicate to equitable tolling. 

See In re Haghighi, 178 Wn.2d 435, 449, 309 P.3d 459 (2013) ("we apply 

the civil standard and require the predicates of bad faith, deception, or 

false assurances"). Remarkably, New Cingular asks this Court to adopt 

two doctrines that would allow equitable tolling without this essential 
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predicate, while failing to even mention that this is a requirement in 

Washington law. New Cingular has not demonstrated any substantial 

public interest in discarding that rule. 

2. The fact-specific nature of this case precludes consideration 
of the doctrines proffered by New Cingular. 

The Court should decline to review this case for the additional 

reason that New Cingular' s proposed extensions of Washington law are 

not even implicated under the facts of this case. The Court of Appeals 

based its decision on a fact-specific analysis, focused on New Cingular's 

failure to pursue available remedies that would have allowed it to preserve 

its administrative filing date. This analysis would preclude application of 

New Cingular's proposed doctrines, even if the Court were to adopt them. 

a. The Court of Appeals decided this case on a fact
specific basis. 

In rejecting New Cingular's claim, the Court of Appeals focused 

on the City's administrative appeal process and New Cingular's failure to 

pursue it. The court reproduced three sections of the BMC in their 

entirety.8 It dedicated an additional paragraph to describing the BMC's 

administrative appeal process, which gives the taxpayer the opportunity to 

file "an action in superior court 'for a trial de novo on the matter at 

8 See Petition, App. A at 6-7. 
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issue."'9 The court then observed that New Cingular's only explanation 

for abandoning this process was "a claim that the process was 'hostile' and 

'demonstratively slow and futile. '"1° Citing the BMC, the comt rejected 

this argument: 

But the City's denial of New Cingular's 
application at the first stage of the 
administrative process did not mean that 
New Cingular could not have obtained the 
relief sought by completing this process, 
which included the opportunity for a trial de 
novo. 

Petition, App. A at 12. The court concluded that this failure to continue 

the administrative process precluded equitable tolling. Jd. at 12-13. 

b. New Cingular 's policy arguments were not 
implicated under the facts of this case. 

Relying on McDonald, New Cingular claims that when a person 

has multiple legal remedies, the pursuit of one should equitably toll the 

statute of limitations for the others. While such a rule would 

unquestionably be an extension of Washington law, New Cingular argues 

that it would be good policy. According to New Cingular, a claimant 

should be able to preserve its right to judicial action, while pursuing an 

informal remedy, without having to file a parallel action in court. 11 

9 !d. at 7 (quoting BMC 5.08.230). 
10 !d. at 12. 
11 Petition at 14-15. 
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As the Court of Appeals noted, however, the BMC gave New 

Cingular the opportunity for a trial de novo in superior courtY Thus, all 

New Cingular had to do was continue its initial course of action, an 

administrative claim with the City, and it eventually would have arrived in 

court with a November 2010 filing date. New Cingular created the statute 

of limitations problem through its own tactical decision to abandon this 

process in favor of a direct judicial action with an April 2012 filing date. 

This Court recently held that it would be inappropriate to consider 

an extension of Washington law on equitable tolling where a claimant 

forwent other means to preserve its claim. See Haghighi, 178 Wn.2d at 

448. In Haghighi, the Court rejected a defendant's request to equitably 

toll the deadline for amending his timely personal restraint petition 

("PRP"). The Court explained that in the PRP context defendants have 

other means to preserve their remedies. !d. It would thus be "both unwise 

and unnecessary to expand the [equitable tolling] doctrine beyond the 

traditional standard." !d. 

Likewise, here, New Cingular had another means to preserve its 

remedy, simply by continuing with the City's administrative process. The 

Court of Appeals correctly declined to consider New Cingular's proposed 

12 Petition, App. A at 12 (citing BMC 5.08.230). 
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extension of Washington law under these circumstances. Such an 

extension would have been "both unwise and unnecessary." !d. 

c. New Cingular 's "court-created confusion" 
argument does not arise under these circumstances. 

New Cingular's second argument relies on the Capital Tracing 

case. There, conflicting Ninth Circuit authority recognized two paths for a 

wrongful levy action. Capital Tracing, 63 F.3d at 862. Under one the 

plaintiffs action was timely, and under the other it was untimely. !d. at 

862-63. Equitable tolling was appropriate where the clarifying opinion 

forced the plaintiff to choose the path for which its action was already 

untimely. !d. at 863. 

New Cingular attempts to analogize that confusion to potential 

confusion regarding the administrative exhaustion requirement, which this 

Court resolved in Cost Management, 178 Wn.2d at 645-46. According to 

New Cingular, it believed it was free to file suit at any time with or 

without exhausting administrative remedies, based on its reading of Qwest 

Corp. v. City of Bellevue, 161 Wn.2d 353, 166 P.3d 667 (2007). Cost 

Management subsequently clarified that New Cingular's reading of Qwest 

was incorrect and that exhaustion was required in this type of case. See 
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Cost Management, 178 Wn.2d at 646. 13 New Cingular claims that it was 

confused and that this confusion justifies equitable tolling under the Ninth 

Circuit's theory in Capital Tracing. 

This argument is a red herring. The potential confusion mentioned 

in Cost Management related to whether exhaustion was required. Nothing 

in Qwest or its progeny remotely suggested that an administrative tax-

refund claim could toll the statute of limitations for judicial action. Qwest 

did not even mention the term "statute of limitations." Thus, even if New 

Cingular reasonably believed that it was entitled to file suit without 

exhausting administrative remedies, there was no support in the cited 

"potentially confusing" cases for the notion that the statute of limitations 

would somehow not apply to such action. 

3. New Cingular's purported desire for a published decision 
does not amount to a showing of substantial public interest. 

New Cingular also argues that this Court should accept review 

because guidance is needed in its other lawsuits, and the Court of Appeals' 

decision, being unpublished, would not control the statute of limitations 

13 New Cingular misrepresents this Court's holding in Cost Management when it claims 
the Court stated that "Qwest was a confusing decision, because it blurred procedural and 
jurisdictional requirements." Petition at 19 (citing Cost Management, 178 Wn.2d at 645-
48). This Court did not say that Qwest was confusing, but rather that the Court of 
Appeals' discussion of original jurisdiction was potentially confusing. Cost 
Management, 178 Wn.2d at 645-46. The Court of Appeals here explained that Qwest is 
not applicable at all because New Cingular does not challenge the City's authority to 
impose utility taxes. Petition, App. A at 10. 
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issue in those cases. 14 New Cingular fails to explain how the fact that an 

opinion is not controlling makes review appropriate. To the contrary, in 

construing RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ), this Court considers the far-reaching effects 

that a controlling Court of Appeals decision would have. See, e.g., State v. 

Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). 

In Watson, for example, this Court accepted review of a published 

Court of Appeals' decision, which held that a memorandum submitted by 

a prosecuting attorney to all Pierce County Superior Court judges, 

regarding drug offender sentencing alternative ("DOSA") sentences was 

an improper ex parte communication. In characterizing this as "a prime 

example of an issue of substantial public interest," this Court stressed that 

it had "the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce 

County after November 26, 2001, where a DOSA sentence was or is at 

issue." !d. Thus, a prime example of a case justifying review under RAP 

13.4(b)(4) is one that will affect many other cases. Here, in contrast, New 

Cingular's contention is that the effect on other cases is too limited. 

Indeed, the fact-specific nature of the Court of Appeals' holding 

would limit its effect even if it were published. Again, the Court of 

14 In its appendix, New Cingular submitted several documents, identified as Appendixes 
D through L, which are not part of the record on review. New Cingular did not seek this 
Court's permission to submit these materials, and thus violated RAP 13.4(c)(9), 13.4(e), 
and 10.3(a)(8). 
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Appeals rejected equitable tolling here after a detailed discussion of 

Bothell's administrative process. New Cingular fails to show that the 

same facts are present in its other cases. 

Finally, New Cingular's argument rings especially hollow where 

New Cingular did not move to publish the Court of Appeals' opinion. The 

decision was issued on August 25, 2014. The deadlines for motions to 

publish and motions for reconsideration expired on September 15, 2014. 

See RAP 12.3(3), 12.4(b). New Cingular sought neither form of relief

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